IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 69,743

ON REVIEW OF CERTIFIED QUESTIONS OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SID J. WHITE JAN 12 1987 JOSEPHINE STURIANO Plaintiff, Petitioner SY. Deputy Clor

MARTIN BROOKS, as Guardian Ad Litem of the Estate of Vito Sturiano, Deceased

Defendant, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER JOSEPHINE STURIANO

January 9, 1987

Leonard Robbins Joseph J. Huss Linda Raspolich Pratt ABRAMS, ANTON, ROBBINS. RESNICK, SCHNEIDER & MAGER, P.A. 2021 Tyler Street P.O. Box 650 Hollywood, Florida 33022 Telephone: (305) 921-5500 Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

This Brief is filed on behalf of JOSEPHINE STURIANO, the Plaintiff in a personal injury negligence action. For the sake of clarity, this Brief refers to the parties either by name or by their status in the trial court.

The decisions presented for review passed upon questions of great public importance, certified by the district court in the following form:

- I. DOES THE LEX LOCI CONTRACTUS RULE GOVERN THE RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF THE PARTIES IN DETERMINING THE APPLICABLE LAW ON AN ISSUE OF INSURANCE COVERAGE, PRECLUDING CONSIDERATION BY THE FLORIDA COURTS OF OTHER RELEVANT FACTORS, SUCH AS THE SIGNIFICANT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FLORIDA AND THE PARTIES AND/OR THE TRANSACTION?
- II. DOES THE DOCTRINE OF INTERSPOUSAL IMMUNITY BAR AN OTHERWISE VALID CLAIM BY AN INJURED PASSENGER WHOSE NEGLIGENT SPOUSE DIED AS A RESULT OF THE ACCIDENT, WHERE THE CLAIM IS LIMITED TO THE AMOUNT OF INSURANCE COVERAGE, THE PLAINTIFF IS THE ONLY PARTY INTERESTED IN THE ESTATE AND A GUARDIAN AD LITEM IS APPOINTED?

<u>Brooks v. Sturiano</u>, 11 F.L.W. 2439 (Fla. 4th DCA Nov. 19, 1986).

To facilitate orderly analysis, the certified questions will be dealt with in the order presented in the Fourth District Court of Appeal opinion. The District Court opinion is set forth in its entirety in the Appendix to Petitioner's Initial Brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is before the Court to review the decision in <u>Brooks v. Sturiano</u>, 11 F.L.W. 2439 (Fla. 4th DCA Nov. 19, 1986). The District Court found that the interspousal immunity defense did not apply in this case and expressed an opinion that the facts of this case were "uniquely different from those found in any prior cases involving the interspousal immunity defense." The district court certified that <u>Brooks</u> passed upon questions of great public importance as to both the interspousal immunity defense and the doctrine of <u>lex loci contractus</u>, thereby vesting this Court with jurisdiction. Art. V, §3(b)(4), Fla. Const. (1985).

JOSEPHINE STURIANO initially filed a complaint against herself as personal representative of the Estate of her deceased husband, Vito Sturiano, and against his insurer, Government Employees Insurance Company ("GEICO") (R-216-223). The complaint alleged, <u>inter alia</u>, that JOSEPHINE STURIANO suffered personal injuries as a result of an accident on November 6, 1982, in which she was a passenger in a vehicle driven by her husband, and that his negligent operation of the vehicle caused it to collide with a tree. It was alleged that JOSEPHINE STURIANO was afforded coverage pursuant to a \$50,000.00 insurance policy issued by GEICO.

-3-

The initial Motion to Dismiss filed by GEICO on behalf of the insurer and JOSEPHINE STURIANO in her role as personal representative, argued that GEICO was not a proper party and that the doctrine of interspousal immunity barred the lawsuit (R-218-219). The Motion was denied (R-224). However, MARTIN BROOKS, was then appointed Guardian Ad Litem for the Estate of Vito Sturiano for the purpose of the litigation (R-224). Thereafter, BROOKS answered the complaint, and incorporated the grounds set forth in the earlier Motion to Dismiss (R-228). GEICO was subsequently dismissed from the action pursuant to Section 627.7262, Fla.Stat. (1985) (R-229, 260).

BROOKS later renewed his Motion to Dismiss based upon the doctrine of interspousal immunity (R-234-235), which Motion was denied without prejudice (R-239). Thereafter, BROOKS moved for summary judgment again on the basis of interspousal immunity, and further argued that under the laws of the State of New York, where the GEICO insurance policy was issued, all policies were deemed to exclude coverage for liability of an insured to an injured spouse, unless an express provision for such coverage was specifically included in the policy. No such provision existed in the GEICO policy (R-241-244).

In opposition to the Defendant's Motion for Summary Final Judgment, JOSEPHINE STURIANO contended that she and her late husband, Vito, had lived in Florida for eight (8) months of the year for the past five (5) or six

-4-

(6) years, and that Florida law should apply so as not to bar coverage under the GEICO policy (R-246-250). The record further reflected that JOSEPHINE STURIANO and her husband sold their home in New York and had moved to Florida in 1979 (R-95-97).

The case proceeded to trial. According to the accident investigator, the STURIANO vehicle was found to have struck a tree (R-15). Vito Sturiano, the driver, was located just outside the driver's side of the vehicle and was not conscious (R-16, 19).

JOSEPHINE STURIANO testified that on the day of the accident she and her husband were driving home from a shopping mall. Her husband was driving the vehicle and she was riding in the front passenger seat (R-100-114). JOSEPHINE STURIANO stated that she was talking with her husband, that all of a sudden he "got dizzy" and doubled over the wheel and that the car went off the road and hit a tree (R-116, 118). At the time of the accident, Vito Sturiano was eighty-two (82) years old and since retiring to Florida in 1979, had suffered dizzy spells frequently in which he would "pass out." These episodes would occur sometimes three (3) or four (4) times in a week (R-98), however, Mr. Sturiano refused to stop driving (R-99).

Mrs. Sturiano further testified that her husband's, Vito Sturiano's, appearance before the collision was similar to that which she had observed at the time of prior dizzy spells.

-5-

The medical examiner's testimony was that the cause of death was a ruptured aneurysm which, in her opinion, preceded the accident. It was the medical examiner's view that the leaking aneurysm caused the loss of consciousness, which in turn caused the accident. It was undisputed that Vito Sturiano had such an aneurysm for many years prior to the collision and had knowledge of his condition.

At the close of the Plaintiff's case, and again at the close of all of the testimony, Brooks moved for a directed verdict (R-130-144, 184-191), which motions were denied (R-144-191) and the case was submitted to the jury for its determination. The jury found the deceased, guilty of negligence and that JOSEPHINE STURIANO was not guilty of any comparative negligence. Damages were assessed at \$75,000.00 (R-213-214), but the trial court, without objection, reduced the recovery to the policy limits (R-360).

BROOKS post-trial Motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and Motion for judgment in accordance with the Motions for directed verdict were denied (R-349-350), and an appeal ensued to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

On November 19, 1986, the District Court rendered the decision presently under review. (App.) The District Court held, that JOSEPHINE STURIANO'S negligence action was not barred by the doctrine of interspousal immunity because none of the policy considerations surrounding interspousal

-6-

immunity existed under the factual scenario raised by the pleadings and issues tried in this action. However, on the second issue presented for determination, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's judgment applying the <u>lex loci contractus</u> rule to bar any recovery under the GEICO liability insurance policy issued in New York.

MRS. STURIANO timely filed her Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on December 19, 1986, and this Court has accepted jurisdiction in accordance with Art. V, §3(b)(4), Fla. Const. (1985).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Modern society has become a migratory transient society. A majority of Florida's residents are persons who have had their original roots in other states and who frequently have maintained their insurance policies issued from those other states anticipating that they will be covered and protected under Florida law if they are involved in an automobile accident in the State of Florida. This Court must now take the next logical step forward and adopt the significant relationship test and standards as enunciated in the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws \$188 (1971), so as to protect those citizens of this State.

2. For the reason set forth above, and because of dissatisfaction with, and the inability of courts to find complete solutions in the mechanical formulas of the traditional choice of laws <u>lex loci contractus</u> rule, numerous jurisdictions have over the last few decades adopted the modern approach in Conflicts of Law primarily, known as the "Significant Relationship Test".

3. Under the significant relationship test, the Courts instead of regarding as conclusive the parties' intention, or the place of making or performance of the contract, lay emphasis upon the law of the place which has the most significant relation, connection, or contacts with the matter in dispute.

4. This Court should take the next logical step and follow its prior decision in <u>Bishop v. Florida Specialty</u>

-8-

<u>Paint Company</u>, 389 So.2d 999 (Fla. 1980), where the significant relationship test was adopted for tort actions and reject the traditional <u>lex loci contractus</u> rule.

5. Numerous courts of other jurisdictions have adopted the test enunciated in the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §188 (1971) finding that the <u>lex loci</u> <u>contractus</u> doctrine should be abandoned in favor of the modern significant relationship approach.

6. Although the GEICO insurance policy issued to the STURIANO'S was executed in New York, the STURIANO'S have resided since 1979 in the State of Florida and justifiably relied and expected that they would be adequately protected under the laws of the State of Florida so as to recover under their insurance policy.

7. The doctrine of interspousal immunity does not bar an otherwise valid claim by an injured passenger whose negligent spouse died as a result of the accident, where the claim is limited to the amount of insurance coverage, the Plaintiff is the only party interested in the estate, and a Guardian Ad Litem is appointed.

8. The harsh effect of the doctrine of interspousal immunity will not bar a claim by an injured spouse regardless of the facts and policy considerations that existed in promulgating the doctrine of interspousal immunity in the first place.

9. Where none of the policy considerations which have been used to support interspousal immunity exist under

-9-

the factual scenario of a case, the doctrine of interspousal immunity should not be applied to bar recovery to an injured party who would otherwise be entitled to compensation from an insurance carrier. ISSUES PRESENTED AND CERTIFIED TO THIS COURT:

- I. DOES THE LEX LOCI CONTRACTUS RULE GOVERN THE RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF THE PARTIES IN DETERMINING THE APPLICABLE LAW ON AN ISSUE OF INSURANCE COVERAGE, PRECLUDING CONSIDERATION BY THE FLORIDA COURTS OF OTHER RELEVANT FACTORS, SUCH AS THE SIGNIFICANT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FLORIDA AND THE PARTIES AND/OR THE TRANSACTION?
- II. DOES THE DOCTRINE OF INTERSPOUSAL IMMUNITY BAR AN OTHERWISE VALID CLAIM BY AN INJURED PASSENGER WHOSE NEGLIGENT SPOUSE DIED AS A RESULT OF THE ACCIDENT, WHERE THE CLAIM IS LIMITED TO THE AMOUNT OF INSURANCE COVERAGE, THE PLAINTIFF IS THE ONLY PARTY INTERESTED IN THE ESTATE AND A GUARDIAN AD LITEM IS APPOINTED?

ARGUMENT

I. THE LEX LOCI CONTRACTUS RULE SHOULD NO LONGER GOVERN THE RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF THE PARTIES IN DETERMINING THE APPLICABLE LAW ON AN ISSUE OF INSURANCE COVERAGE THEREBY PRECLUDING CONSIDERATION BY THE FLORIDA COURTS OF OTHER RELEVANT FACTORS, SUCH AS THE SIGNIFICANT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FLORIDA AND THE PARTIES AND/OR THE TRANSACTION.

The District Court erred in applying the <u>lex loci</u> <u>contractus</u> rule so as to preclude consideration by the trial court of other relevant factors, such as the significant relationship between Florida and the parties and/or the transaction thereby barring JOSEPHINE STURIANO from recovery.

In reversing the trial court's Final Judgment, the Fourth District Court of Appeal ruled that the STURIANO'S insurance policy issued in the State of New York did not provide coverage to JOSEPHINE STURIANO because of a New York statute which provided that there could be no coverage to a marital partner injured by that partner's insured spouse unless coverage was specifically provided for in the insurance contract. N.Y. Ins. Law §3420(g) (McKinney 1985). In so doing, the Fourth District Court of Appeal applied the traditional and out-dated <u>lex loci contractus</u> rule. It is respectfully submitted that this Court should now take the next <u>logical step forward</u> and adopt the significant relationship standard as enunciated in the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §188 (1971). By doing so, this

-12-

Court should now acknowledge that the <u>lex loci contractus</u> rule is no longer of any efficacy in a modern transitory society particularly in Florida where the migratory nature of Florida's ever growing non-native population and its protection is a prime consideration.

The question then turns to what is the modern preferable and less mechanical rule in applying a choice of laws context to contracts. Clearly, dissatisfaction with, and the inability of courts to find complete solutions in the mechanical formulas of the traditional choice of laws <u>lex loci contractus</u> rule, has over the last few decades led to the development of the <u>modern</u> approach, primarily known as the "significant relationship test." Under this approach, which is adopted by the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §188 (1971), the courts, instead of regarding as conclusive the parties intention, or the place of making or performance of the contract, lay emphasis upon the law of the place which has the most <u>significant</u> relation, connection or contacts with the matter in dispute. See 16 Am.Jur.2d Conflict of Law §§83-84 (1979).

The issue here is quite simple. What law should the State of Florida apply where an automobile liability insurance policy is entered into one state and an accident resulting in a claim under that policy occurs in Florida. In <u>Gillen v. United Services Automobile Association</u>, 300 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1974), this Court was asked to adopt the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Law significant

-13-

relationship test but declined the invitation to do so, noting that it was unnecessary whether to adopt or reject the Restatement (Second) position because under the facts of <u>Gillen</u>, such a determination was unnecessary to its resolution.

It is respectfully submitted that this case, under its facts, presents the perfect opportunity for this Court to adopt the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws significant relationship test particularly in light of the burgeoning transitory population that has developed in Florida since the <u>Gillen</u> decision in 1974 and which now forms a large portion of the state's population. In fact, some six (6) years after <u>Gillen</u> was decided, this Court, in <u>Bishop v. Florida Specialty Paint Company</u>, 389 So.2d 999 (Fla. 1980), was faced with a certified question of public importance regarding the <u>lex loci delicti</u> rule governing the rights and liabilities of parties in tort actions and abandoned that rule in favor of the significant relationship test.

In <u>adopting</u> the position of the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §146 (1971), that in actions for personal injury, the local laws of the state where the injury occurred determines the rights and liabilities of the parties, unless, with respect to that particular issue, some other state has a more significant relationship to the occurrence and parties, this Court held:

> Instead of clinging to the traditional lex loci delicti rule, we now adopt the 'significant relationships test' as set

> > -14-

forth in the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §§145-146 (1971)

The conflicts theory set out in the Restatement does not reject the 'place of injury' rule completely. The state where the injury occurred would, under most circumstances, be the decisive consideration in determining the applicable choice of law. Indeed, the rationale for a strict lex loci delicti rule ... 'ease in the determination and application of the law to be applied' are cited as major factors in determining the proper choice of law. In contrast to the inflexible place of injury rule, however, the Restatement rule recognizes that the state where the injury occurred may have little actual significance for the cause of action. Other facts may combine to outweigh the place of injury as a controlling consideration making the determination of applicable law a less mechanical, and more rational, process. Bishop, 389 So.2d at 1001.

For the reasons expressed in <u>Bishop</u>, this Court receded from the <u>inflexible lex loci delicti</u> rule thereby joining numerous other jurisdictions which had adopted the more flexible, modern approach to that aspect of Conflicts of Law. It makes absolutely no sense whatsoever for this Court not to apply the same standards in receding from the inflexible <u>lex loci contractus</u> rule thereby joining the numerous jurisdictions which have now adopted the more flexible significant relationship test as enunciated in the Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws §188 (1971).

Other states have grappled with the idea of adopting the significant relationship test and abandoning the lex loci contractus rule and have found that adopting

-15-

the significant relationship test brings those jurisdictions in tune with modern society. Thus, in <u>Cole v. State</u> <u>Automobile & Casualty Underwriters</u>, 296 N.W.2d 779 (Iowa 1980), the Iowa Supreme Court adopted the significant relationship test and abandoned the <u>lex loci contractus</u> rule:

> In common with most states in facing choice-of-law questions, we have long struggled with competing interests. On the one hand, the public needs predictability in its conflict-of-law rules. On the other hand, there is a need for flexibility. These conflicting needs were long reflected in our opinions and in those from other states.

> Some choice-of-law opinions aim for simplicity, uniformity and predictability. This approach, which was adopted in 1934 in the Restatement of Conflict of Laws, proceeded from the belief that conflict problems should focus on the vesting of the interests of the litigants. This view presupposed that all right and obligations under a contract vested at a certain time and place and was controlled by the law of that place. This simple but harsh view was applied in a number of our opinions

> The American Law Institute abandoned the simple, harsh approach in the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of The second Restatement recognizes Laws. widespread repudiation of the test espoused in the first Restatement. Under the second Restatement there are two general rules. First, with certain restrictions not applicable here, contracting parties themselves determine the law which is to control. Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §187. The second rule applies where the parties do not make the choice. The Court then applies the law of the jurisdiction with the 'most significant

relationship' to the transaction in dispute. Id. at 781.

Similarly, in <u>Unigard Insurance Group v. Royal</u> <u>Globe Insurance Company</u>, 100 Idaho 123, 594 P.2d 633 (1979), the Supreme Court of Idaho adopted verbatim the official draft of the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §188 (1971) for its state. That provision provides in pertinent part:

> \$188. Law Governing in Absence of Effective Choice by the Parties

(1) The rights and duties of the parties with respect to an issue in contract are determined by the local law of the state which, with respect to that issue, has the most significant relationship to the transaction and the parties under the principles stated in §6.

(2) In the absence of an effective choice of law by the parties (see §187), the contacts to be taken into account in applying the principles of §6 to determine the law applicable to an issue include:

- (a) the place of contracting,
- (b) the place of negotiation of the contract,
- (c) the place of performance,
- (d) the location of the subject matter of the contract, and
- (e) the domicile, residence, nationality, place of incorporation and place of business of the parties.

These contacts are to be evaluated according to their relative importance with respect to the particular issue.

Similarly, in Wood Bros. Homes, Inc. v. Walker

Adjustment Bureau 198 Colo. 444, 601 P.2d 1369 (1979) the Colorado Supreme Court noted that it had already adopted the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Law approach in tort actions recognizing the shortcomings of the traditional Conflict of Laws rule and the benefits of the most significant relationship approach and for these <u>same reasons</u> adopted the significant relationship test in contract actions involving a choice of law.

Turning to the facts of this appeal, this Court must look to the objectives of the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws which is to locate the state having the "most significant relationship" to the particular issue. In

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