017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 69,743

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LEX LOCI CONTRACTUS RULE GOVERNS THE RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES OF THE PARTIES IN DETERMINING THE APPLICABLE LAW ON AN ISSUE OF INSURANCE COVERAGE, PRECLUDING CONSIDERATION BY THE FLORIDA COURTS OF OTHER RELEVANT FACTORS, SUCH AS THE SIGNIFICANT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FLORIDA AND THE PARTIES AND/OR THE TRANSACTION.

The Defandant submits that the certified question should be answered in the affirmative, and that the <u>lex loci contractus</u> rule should govern the dispute in the present case. Alternatively, should this Court answer the certified question in the negative, the New York statute in question should nonetheless apply, barring recovery in the instant case.

On the issue of whether Florida should continue to follow traditional choice of law rules in contractual disputes, the Plaintiff suggests that Florida's long standing law in this regard "is no longer of any efficacy in a modern transitory society", particularly in light of Florida's large non-native population. The Plaintiff's primary argument appears to be that since this Court in Bishop v. Florida
Specialty Paint Company, 389 So.2d 999 (Fla. 1980), adopted the "significant relationships test" in tort disputes, "it makes absolutely no sense whatsoever" not to adopt the same rule in contractual disputes. The Defendant respectfully submits that this analysis is faulty, and that the clear distinction between the two types of actions requires that a different rule be established as to each.

The significant difference between these two types of actions is that when parties enter into a contractual relationship, they do so

with the intention of establishing a binding agreement with regard to their rights and obligations. A party entering into a contract provides consideration therefor in the expectation that the obligations and rights set forth therein will not later be changed without his consent. These crucial factors are absent in personal injury tort litigation. It cannot seriously be suggested that, for example, an individual planning to travel to Florida would first investigate its tort laws to determine what his rights might be if he were involved in an accident there.

A party's justifiable expectation regarding his contract rights is of such crucial importance that it has been embodied in our Constitution by virtue of Article I, Section 10, which prohibits the Legislature from making any law which would impair a party's contractual obligation. Indeed, this Court has jealously guarded the rights of parties to an insurance contract by refusing to give effect to a statutory amendment enacted after the policy was issued, which would have modified those rights retroactively. Dewberry v.
Auto-Owners Insurance Company, 363 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 1978).

We submit that the importance of giving effect to the parties' expectations under a contract justifies this Court in adhering to the traditional choice of law rules in contract cases, while departing therefrom in cases involving personal injury tort litigation. Matter concerning the validity of a contract and, with respect to insurance, the coverage afforded thereunder, should be governed by the law of the state where the parties negotiated for and entered into their contract.

The importance of this concept is well illustrated by the facts of the present case. Here, the policy was issued to the Plaintiff's late husband in the State of New York, at a time when the statutes of New York contained the following provision:

No policy or contract shall deemed to insure against any liability of an insured because of death or of injuries to his or her spouse or because of injury to, or destruction of property of his or her spouse unless express provision relating specifically thereto is included in the policy.

N.Y.Ins. Law §167 (3)(McKinney), now recodified as §3420(g)(McKinney 1985). In other words, all policies issued in New York are deemed to exclude coverage in interspousal liability cases, unless the policy specifically provides for such coverage. The policy in question here contains no such provision.

At the time this policy was issued, the parties resided in New York and their vehicle was garaged in New York. There is nothing in the policy (R.270-305) or elsewhere to suggest any intention by either the insurer or the insured that New York law would not continue to govern this contract. Indeed, a review of the face sheet and endorsements shows that even after the insureds supposedly moved to Florida, the insurer was treating the policy as a New York risk.

New York case law specifically provides that the statutory provision referred to above is mandated into and made a part of every policy of automobile liability insurance issued in the State of New York, and governs all such policies without regard to where the accident occurs. New Amsterdam Casualty Company v. Stecker, 3 N.Y.2d 1, 163 N.Y.S.2d 626 (Ct. App. 1957). Under this state of the law at the time the policy was issued, the insurer was certainly entitled to assume that its obligations under the contract would not be increased

Simply because its policyholder moved to another state. Indeed, New York law specifically covers that situation, and provides even where a policyholder later moves to another state where the accident occurs, and even where the insurer has issued an appropriate change of address endorsement, 1/2 that change does not nullify any provisions of the policy. The statute excluding coverage in interspousal liability cases continues to apply. Employers Liability Assurance Corporation, Ltd. v. Aresty, 11 A.D.2d 331, 205 N.Y.S.2d 711 (App. Div. 1960).

After a party has entered into a contract, a subsequent imposition of additional liabilities, or a deprivation of existing benefits, cannot constitutionally be effected by legislative act. Fla.Const., Art. I, §10. We submit that where, as in the present case, an insurer has contracted to cover certain risks and not others, its insured's subsequent unilateral move to a foreign jurisdiction should not accomplish that same result. The policy, when it was issued, was deemed to include the statute in question, and that exclusion should not be excised from the policy without the consent of one of the contracting parties. Indeed, but for the statute, the insurer might well have included a specific exclusion in the policy -- which exclusion would be upheld in Florida. Florida Farm Bureau Ins. Co. v. GEICO, 387 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1980).

It is for this basic reason that the place of contracting is the most logical and fair choice of law rule in a contractual dispute. We submit that this Court should continue to follow this sound rule, and should continue to draw the very real distinction between contractual

 $[\]frac{1}{}$ In the present case, there is nothing in the record to suggest that the Sturianos ever told their insurer that they were spending part of each year in Florida. Even if they had, of course, under Aresty, it would make no difference.

and tort disputes.

Even if this Court should determine to apply the significant relationship test as enunciated in the Restatement (Second) Conflict of Law Section 188, however, the outcome of the present dispute should not be affected. This is so because even under Restatement quidelines, the law of New York would control, since it is New York which would have the most significant relationship to the transaction. Analyzing the factors set forth in Section 188 (2), the first two factors (place of contracting and place of negotiation of the contract) clearly point to New York as the proper choice. remaining three factors (place of performance, location of the subject matter, and residence of the parties) would also point to New York, since at the time the policy was issued, the parties were New York residents and their vehicle was garaged there. Their subsequent decision to spend eight months of the year in Florida was not communicated to the insurer, and thus the insurer was not on reasonable notice that the risk of the policy was centered in Florida rather than New York. Accordingly, Florida law should not be applied. New Jersey Manufacturers Insurance Company v. Woodward, 456 So.2d 552 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Davella, 450 So.2d 1202 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

In summary, as is pointed out in the comment to Section 188 of the Restatement, "Protection of the justified expectations of the parties is the basic policy underlying the field of contracts." In the present case, application of any law other than that of the State of New York would wholly destroy this expectation, and defeat the goal of certainty and predictability of result. Although the Plaintiff argues

for a change in the law because of Florida's mobile population, we submit that this fact makes the need for certainty and predictability of result all the greater. It is for this reason that the law of New York should be applied in the present case and that Florida should continue to apply the Lex loci contractus rule in disputes involving contractual matters. The certified question should be answered in the affirmative, and the decision of the District Court of Appeal should be approved.

POINT II

THE DOCTRINE OF INTERSPOUSAL IMMUNITY BARS AN OTHERWISE VALID CLAIM BY AN INJURED PASSENGER WHOSE NEGLIGENT SPOUSE DIED AS A RESULT OF THE ACCIDENT, WHERE THE CLAIM IS LIMITED TO THE AMOUNT OF INSURANCE COVERAGE, THE PLAINTIFF IS THE ONLY PARTY INTERESTED IN THE ESTATE AND A GUARDIAN AD LITEM IS APPOINTED.

Both parties to this proceeding agree that this Court should take the "next logical step" in its line of cases dealing with interspousal immunity. The disagreement lies in which direction that "next logical step" should take. While the Plaintiff argues that this Court is moving in the direction of enlarging liability in cases of this type, the Defendant respectfully submits that the contrary is true, and that the next logical step would be a determination of no liability in the present case.

In 1980, this Court rejected the suggestion that interspousal immunity had become an outdated concept, and held in Raisen v. Raisen, 379 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1980) that the doctrine "...is still viable in Florida and that it precludes a tort action between husband and wife in all cases." Id. at 355.

Thereafter on April 29, 1982, this Court issued a quartet of opinions dealing with this subject², of which the <u>Roberts</u> and <u>Ard</u> decisions have some bearing upon the present question. In <u>Ard</u>, the Court was dealing with the somewhat related question of parental immunity, and carved out an exception to that doctrine in cases where the allegedly negligent parent had liability insurance which would

 $[\]frac{2}{\text{West v. West}}$, 414 So.2d 189 (Fla. 1982); Roberts v. Roberts, 414 So.2d 190 (Fla. 1982); Ard v. Ard, 414 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1982); and Hill v. Hill, 415 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1982).

cover the incident. The Court went on to say, however, that if the policy in question did not cover the incident or contained an exclusionary clause for family members, then parental immunity would not be waived and the child could not sue his parent. Ard, supra at 1067.

Roberts, on the other hand, was an interspousal immunity case which, like the present case, involved a situation where the surviving wife was suing the estate of her deceased husband. There, the Court held that the doctrine of immunity survived the death of the defendant spouse. Roberts differs from the present case only in the fact that an intentional tort was involved and there was no insurance coverage.

The following year, in Dressler v. Tubbs, 435 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1983), this Court had before it a question certified by the Fifth District, namely whether the liability insurance exception which this Court applied in Ard to parental immunity cases would also apply in the case of interspousal litigation. In that case, both parties were deceased, and the estate of the wife was suing the estate of the husband. The Court declined to answer the certified question of whether interspousal immunity would be waived to the extent of liability insurance in negligence cases. Instead, the Court based its decision on the fact that Dressler was a wrongful death case, and that the wife's disability to sue because of interspousal immunity was personal to her; thus her survivors could bring an action in their own right, despite the fact that the wife would not have been able to sue had she lived. The Court in Dressler distinguished its earlier decision in Roberts v. Roberts, because Roberts was not a wrongful death action, and the person bringing suit in that case was the very

person in whom the disability to sue was inherent.

This Court most recently addressed the interspousal immunity question in <u>Snowten v. Snowten</u>, 475 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1985) and <u>Zimmerman v. Zimmerman</u>, 478 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1985). In those decisions, the Court answered in the negative the question of whether the doctrine of interspousal immunity would be waived to the extent of available liability insurance in an action for negligent tort.

Defendant submits that <u>Snowten</u> and <u>Zimmerman</u>, when read in conjunction with <u>Roberts</u>, control the outcome of the present appeal and mandate that the doctrine of interspousal immunity be applied to bar the present action. The only distinction between <u>Snowten</u> or <u>Zimmerman</u> and the present case is the fact that the negligent spouse died before suit was filed. However, this Court made it clear in <u>Roberts</u> that the interspousal immunity doctrine survives the death of the defendant spouse, and thus the doctrine would apply here.

Plaintiff, on the other hand, takes the position that this dispute should be governed by Dressler v. Tubbs, since in that case the defendant spouse had died. Such reliance is entirely misplaced, however, since the only reason this Court permitted suit to go forward in Dressler was the fact that it was a wrongful death case brought not by the spouse, but by her survivors. The Court made it quite clear that the wife's disability to sue was personal to her and died with her, and that the survivors were permitted to sue only because they had a separate cause of action against the defendant estate in their own right. Indeed, the Dressler court distinguished Roberts precisely because, like the present case, it was not a wrongful death action and because "...the person bringing the suit is the very person in whom the disability to sue is inherent." Dressler, supra at 794.

This Court has now answered the questions left unanswered in Dressler v. Tubbs and Ard v. Ard, namely whether the doctrine of interspousal immunity, like the doctrine of parental immunity, is waived to the extent of available liability insurance, when the action is for a negligent tort. In both Snowten and Zimmerman, the Court answered this question in the negative. The Court did not restrict its holding to cases where the defendant spouse is still living, and it is apparent from both opinions that the Court has sought to put to rest the notion that its Ard decision can in any way be carried over to the interspousal immunity cases. Indeed, the Court specifically stated in Snowten that its decisions in Ard and Dressler do not indicate any intention to abrogate the doctrine of interspousal immunity. Having earlier held in Roberts that the doctrine survives the death of the defendant spouse, this Court should now specifically hold that a living spouse may not sue the estate of her deceased spouse, irrespective of whether liability coverage exists.

The Plaintiff is apparently seeking to have this Court carve out a special exception to its general nonliability rule in interspousal cases so that recovery may be allowed where the negligent spouse is dead and thus there is no danger of promoting marital disharmony.

This Court had the opportunity to make such a ruling in Dressler, but instead considered its decision controlled by Shiver v. Sessions, 80 So.2d 905 (Fla. 1955) which held that the rule of marital immunity had no application in wrongful death cases. Furthermore, this Court in Dressler specifically harmonized that case with its earlier decision in Roberts, supra. Had this Court intended to hold, as the Plaintiff now claims, that interspousal immunity is waived whenever one of the

spouses is dead, then clearly this Court would have been required to recede from or overrule Roberts. We submit that this Court intended to restrict its <u>Dressler</u> holding to wrongful death cases, and did not intend to hold that the interspousal immunity bar is waived in all cases where the marital bond has been dissolved by death.

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